IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

ADRIAN AVERY,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 73,289

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_ /

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY  
Public Defender  
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida  
The Governmental Center/9th Floor  
301 North Olive Avenue  
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401  
(407) 820-2150

JEFFREY ANDERSON  
Assistant Public Defender

Counsel for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner was the Appellee in the court below and the defendant in the trial court. Respondent was the Appellant in the court below and the prosecution in the trial court. In the brief the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court. A copy of the district court's opinion is attached to this brief as the Appendix.

The following symbols will be used in this brief:

"R"	Record on Appeal;
"A"	Appendix.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On July 26, 1986, at approximately 8:00 p.m., Officer Turner of the West Palm Beach Police Department was at the Trailway Bus Station assisting Officer Fahey in investigating the illegal transportation of narcotics and weapons on board the bus line (R4).

Turner testified that the normal procedure during the investigation is to conduct surveillance of the bus station (R5).

Once a bus arrives, the officers would speak to the bus driver and check to see if Broward County Sheriff's office had checked the bus at the Ft. Lauderdale terminal (R5). In this particular instance, Officer Turner did not believe that the Broward Sheriff's office had checked this bus (R5).

The officers observed the bus Petitioner was riding on pull up (R5-6). The Trailway buses usually only stopped for five (5) to ten (10) minutes at the station (R19). Turner spoke to the bus driver and asked permission to board the bus which was granted (R6). Turner and Fahey went to the rear of the bus to speak with passengers (R6). Turner testified that the procedure would be to introduce themselves as police officers, with badges exposed, and to request permission to speak with the passenger (R6). Turner testified that on every occasion so far passengers have agreed to talk (R6).

Turner decided to speak with Petitioner who was sitting three or four rows from the rear of the bus (R7). By this time there were only a couple of minutes remaining before the bus was scheduled to leave (R19). Petitioner had boarded the bus, which

was destined for Dallas, in North Miami (R18). Turner observed Petitioner "scooting" a bag under his seat with his feet (R7). Turner believed that Petitioner was trying to conceal the bag (R7). As soon as Officer Fahey was finished speaking with a passenger directly in front of Petitioner, the officers spoke to Petitioner (R7).

Turner requested permission to speak with Petitioner and received it (R7). Turner explained to Petitioner that they were conducting an ongoing investigation into the transportation of illegal narcotics and weapons (R8). Turner asked Petitioner where he was traveling to and if he had a bus ticket (R8). Turner then looked at the ticket and gave it back to Petitioner (R8). Turner then asked Petitioner if he had any luggage on board and Petitioner acknowledged that he did and pointed to the black bag under his seat (R9).<sup>1</sup> Petitioner then placed the bag in his lap (R9).

Turner requested permission to search the bag and advised Petitioner he had a right to refuse (R9). Turner testified that if there was a refusal he would ask for a reason for the refusal (R10). If there was no reason given for the refusal Turner would then request that his dog be allowed to search the bag (R10-11). Turner testified that if Petitioner had refused the search he would be free to leave (R11). Turner did not testify that this information was ever communicated to Petitioner. Turner

---

<sup>1</sup> Later during the hearing Turner testified that if he testified it was a black bag his testimony was inaccurate (R14). Turner also testified that all he could remember about Petitioner was the fact that he was a black man (R14).



testified that if someone refused to consent at the West Palm Beach Station the usual procedure is to notify the next bus stop in Ft. Pierce (R15). Petitioner told the officers that they could search his bag (R9). The officers had consent forms available but did not use them because of time constraints (R16).

Turner testified that if the forms were used it could take two or three minutes to explain the consent to search (R19). Turner testified that people would then hesitate to sign the written consent forms (R19). Turner testified that once the officers found something then a written consent form would be presented (R19).

Prior to the search Petitioner told the officers that they would find a replica pistol in his bag (R9). They did (R9). The officers also found a piece of foam rubber the size of a softball (R10). Turner squeezed the foam rubber and heard a cracking noise (R9-10). Turner then pulled the foam rubber apart and found cocaine inside (R10).

Petitioner was charged with possession of cocaine (R29). He moved to suppress the contraband at a hearing held on December 22, 1986, before the Honorable Marvin Mounts, Jr., of the Circuit Court. At the hearing, Officer Turner testified as above. The trial court granted the motion to suppress and entered the following order:

Officer Chris Fahey testified that he and Officer Turner, both of the West Palm Beach Police Department comprised a unit which checked the Trailways Bus Station looking for people who might be acting as couriers for drugs north-bound. They along with a dog trained to sniff

for drugs would visit the bus station on a random basis for the purpose of checking north-bound buses.

On July 6, 1986 at approximately 8:10 p.m., they boarded a bus stopped in West Palm Beach bound for Dallas. They were not in uniform but their badges were prominently displayed and they wore windbreakers which designated the department.

They proceeded to the rear of the bus and began interviewing passengers in an effort to gain their consent to search their luggage.

Officer Turner's attention was drawn to Mr. AVERY because he appeared nervous and used his feet to push his tote bag under the seat. It is noted that Mr. AVERY is a large man. As a result of Mr. AVERY's actions, he was subjected to the officer's questioning.

Officer Turner testified that he obtained the oral consent of Mr. AVERY to look through his baggage that was underneath his seat. The officers were aware that their Department had a written consent to search form but that they didn't feel it was necessary to use such a form because it would take too much time and they couldn't do it for all passengers on board or something to that effect. Further testimony indicated that a consent form might be executed once a search had been completed and the suspect under arrest.

The prospect of being a seated passenger on a commercial public transportation vehicle and seeing police officers come on board with their badges prominently displayed checking each passenger is an intimidating and coercive situation in and of itself.

I find that if consent was given in this case it was coerced by the situation I have just described. Furthermore, I find that the Defendant's actions did not give rise to a founded suspicion which would justify his detention. Ingram v. State, 364 So.2d 821 (Fla. 5th DCA 1978); Robinson v. State, 388 So.2d 286 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980); Horvitz v. State, 433 So.2d 545 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983); Gorney v. State, 409 So.2d 220 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982).

The state filed a timely notice of appeal (R43). The Fourth District Court of Appeal, ~~En Banc~~, reversed the trial court holding that the trial court erred in finding that the search was improper and certified the following question:

MAY EVIDENCE, OBTAINED AS A RESULT OF DEFENDANT'S CONSENT TO SEARCH, BE SUPPRESSED BY THE TRIAL COURT AS "COERCED" UPON THE SOLE GROUND THAT THE OFFICER(S) BOARDED A BUS (OR OTHER PUBLIC TRANSPORT) AND RANDOMLY SOUGHT CONSENT FROM PASSENGERS?

(A12). Petitioner timely filed a Motion for Rehearing En Banc. On October 12, 1988, the district court denied the motion (A1). On November 2, 1988, Petitioner timely filed a notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction of this Court. On November 10, 1988 this Court issued an order setting a briefing schedule for this cause.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The police actions, without a founded suspicion of criminal activity, tainted any alleged consent. The police actions of cornering Petitioner, a ticketed passenger on a northbound bus, with their badges prominently displayed, was not a mere consensual encounter. Petitioner was not in a public place when police approached him, rather he was a ticketed passenger aboard a bus who had the right to be left alone in the midst of his journey. By boarding the bus without tickets, the police were exercising a superior right not enjoyed by any other citizen to approach Petitioner and question him regarding his travel plans, destination, and luggage. Assuming that no founded suspicion of criminal activity was required, at a minimum police may only interfere with travellers in transit if such is done with written guidelines to prevent unbridled police discretion and with sufficient warnings so that travellers will not be surprised by the interference.

Assuming arguendo that there was no arbitrary intrusion, the trial court's finding that the consent was invalid must still be affirmed. The totality of the situation supports the trial court's finding. No matter how subtle the implied coercion to consent, the resulting consent is invalid. Here the police cornering Petitioner with an accusatory request, combined the other factors, indicate a coercion that a layman would not feel free to ignore. There were sufficient circumstances to support the trial court's finding that Petitioner's consent was not voluntary.

Assuming, arguendo that Petitioner's alleged consent was not merely acquiescence to apparent police authority, nor tainted by the police intrusion into his privacy, because the search went beyond the scope of the alleged consent the trial court did not err in suppressing the evidence. Any alleged consent to search the luggage did not automatically extend to the containers within the luggage. Furthermore, any alleged consent to search the luggage did not extend to destruction of the property within the luggage.

Assuming, arguendo that no violation of the right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures occurred, the intrusion, without any suspicion of illegal activity, into Petitioner's privacy by boarding the bus and questioning him in the midst of his journey violated Petitioner's right to be left alone under Article I, Section 23, of the Florida Constitution. Without any suspicion of illegal activity occurring on the bus, there was no compelling state interest to board the bus. More importantly, whatever state interest was involved, it was not being attempted through the use of the least intrusive means. Consequently, the resulting intrusion was in violation of Petitioner's right to be let alone under Article I, Section 23, of the Florida Constitution.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS.

The trial court entered the following written order suppressing the evidence:

Officer Chris Fahey testified that he and Officer Turner, both of the West Palm Beach Police Department comprised a unit which checked the Trailways Bus Station looking for people who might be acting as couriers for drugs north-bound. They along with a dog trained to sniff for drugs would visit the bus station on a random basis for the purpose of checking north-bound buses.

On July 6, 1986 at approximately 8:10 p.m., they boarded a bus stopped in West Palm Beach bound for Dallas. They were not in uniform but their badges were prominently displayed and they wore windbreakers which designated the department.

They proceeded to the rear of the bus and began interviewing passengers in an effort to gain their consent to search their luggage.

Officer Turner's attention was drawn to Mr. AVERY because he appeared nervous and used his feet to push his tote bag under the seat. It is noted that Mr. AVERY is a large man. As a result of Mr. AVERY's actions, he was subjected to the officer's questioning.

Officer Turner testified that he obtained the oral consent of Mr. AVERY to look through his baggage that was underneath his seat. The officers were aware that their Department had a written consent to search form but that they didn't feel it was necessary to use such a form because it would take too much time and they couldn't do it for all passengers on board or something to that effect. Further testimony indicated that a consent form might be executed once a search had been completed and the suspect under arrest.

The prospect of being a seated passenger on a commercial public transportation vehicle and seeing police officers come on board with their

badges prominently displayed checking each passenger is an intimidating and coercive situation in and of itself.

I find that if consent was given in this case it was coerced by the situation I have just described. Furthermore, I find that the Defendant's actions did not give rise to a founded suspicion which would justify his detention. Ingram v. State, 364 So.2d 821 (Fla. 5th DCA 1978); Robinson v. State, 388 So.2d 286 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980); Horvitz v. State, 433 So.2d 545 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983); Gorney v. State, 409 So.2d 220 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982).

(R41-42). The district court held that the trial court erred in finding that the search was improper and certified the following question:

MAY EVIDENCE, OBTAINED AS A RESULT OF DEFENDANT'S CONSENT TO SEARCH, BE SUPPRESSED BY THE TRIAL COURT AS "COERCED" UPON THE SOLE GROUND THAT THE OFFICER(S) BOARDED A BUS (OR OTHER PUBLIC TRANSPORT) AND RANDOMLY SOUGHT CONSENT FROM PASSENGERS?

(A7). There are four legitimate reasons for suppressing the evidence in the instant case. Petitioner submits that: (A) the police actions, without a founded suspicion of criminal activity, tainted any alleged consent; (B) the totality of the situation supports the trial court's finding of coercion; (C) the search went beyond the scope of any alleged consent; and (D) the government intrusion invaded Petitioner's right to privacy under Article I, Section 23, of the Florida Constitution. Petitioner will address each of these issues below.

**A. The police actions, without a founded suspicion of criminal activity, tainted any alleged consent.**

The Fourth Amendment is designed "to prevent arbitrary and oppressive interference by enforcement officials with the privacy and personal security of individuals." United States v. Martinez-Fuerte, 428 U.S. 543, 96 S.Ct. 3074, 3081, 49 L.Ed.2d 1116 (1976). To reach its decision the district court was required to first conclude the act of the officer's boarding the bus, displaying authority, and standing over a bus passenger in a narrow bus aisle while questioning him, without a founded suspicion of criminal activity, was a mere voluntary "encounter" rather than an interference with a cognizable privacy right so as to vitiate the alleged consent.

Was the activity in the instant case merely a consensual encounter between police and a citizen that does not implicate the Fourth Amendment as discussed in United States v. Mendenhall, 446 So.2d 544, 100 S.Ct. 1870, 64 L.Ed.2d 497 (1980)? True, the Fourth Amendment does not prohibit voluntary interaction between the police and citizens because "there is nothing in the Constitution which prohibits a policeman from addressing questions to anyone on the streets." Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 34, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 1886, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968). Such a consensual street encounter between police and a citizen is premised on police officers enjoying "the liberty (again, possessed by every citizen) to address questions to other persons." Id. at 31, 32-33, 88 S.Ct. at 1885-1886. "Ordinarily the person addressed has an equal right to ignore his interrogator and walk away." Id. An



"encounter" becomes a detention as soon as a reasonable person would have believed he was not free to leave. Florida v. Royer, 460 So.2d 491, 103 S.Ct. 1319, 75 L.Ed.2d 229 (1983); United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544, 100 S.Ct. 1870, 64 L.Ed.2d 497, reh'g, denied, 448 U.S. 908, 100 S.Ct. 3051, 65 L.Ed.2d 1138 (1980); Nease v. State, 484 So.2d 67 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). Application of this standard makes it clear that there is evidence to support a finding that in this case there was a detention and not merely a consensual encounter.

In his dissent in Snider v. State, 501 So.2d 609 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986) Judge Glickstein correctly perceived that approaching a ticketed passenger aboard a bus is not like approaching a citizen on the street. Unlike the situations in Royer or Mendenhall, Petitioner was not approached in a street or public area where people are free to come and go. Petitioner was seated on a bus, in the midst of a journey, for which he had legally purchased a ticket. Only ticketed passengers and employees of Trailways bus lines would board this northbound bus. These police officers were previously authorized by the Trailways bus lines to board the buses and question the passengers (R6). Accordingly, the officers boarding the northbound bus, to confront the seated, ticketed passengers, display their badges and request to examine their travel documents clearly entailed a show of authority similar to a conductor on a train or a bus employee who would board its common carrier to make sure the passengers' papers were in order. These officers were exercising a superior right not enjoyed by any other citizen to approach Petitioner and question

him regarding his travel plans, destination, and luggage. Cf., Alvarez v. State, 515 So.2d 286, 290 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987) (person in sleeping car on trail should legitimately expect that "his or her privacy will not be intruded upon, with the possible exception of a brief entry by a ticket collector, or encounters in the passageway with other similarly ticketed passengers or train personnel").

A passenger aboard a bus has a special privacy interest to be let alone which he does not enjoy in public places. This is emphasized by Justice Douglas, a well-known guardian of First Amendment rights, in his concurring opinion in Lehman v. City of Shaker Heights, 418 U.S. 298, 94 S.Ct. 2714, 41 L.Ed.2d 770 (1974) where he recognized that even precious First Amendment rights would have to give way to the special interest of a bus passenger to be let alone:

The First Amendment, however, draws no distinction between press privately owned, and press owned otherwise. And if we are to turn a bus or streetcar into either a newspaper or a park, we take great liberties with people who because of necessity become commuters and at the same time captive viewers or listeners.

In asking us to force the system to accept his message as a vindication of his constitutional rights of the commuters. While petitioner clearly has a right to express his views to those who wish to listen, he has no right to force his message upon an audience incapable of declining to receive it. In my view the right of the commuters to be free from forced intrusions on their privacy precludes the city from transporting its vehicles of public transportation into forums for the dissemination of ideas upon this captive audience.

419 U.S. at 306-307, 94 S.Ct. at 2719 (emphasis added). Justice Douglas further noted that bus passengers are captive and not free to ignore the activities on a bus by merely exiting like people on other public places. In the present case Petitioner would not feel free to leave. He could only leave if he were to forfeit his journey.<sup>2</sup>

Since Appellee was already a traveller in the stream of commerce, the rule of Delaware v. Prouse, 440 U.S. 648, 99 S.Ct. 1391, 59 L.Ed.2d 660 (1979), should apply here. In that case the Court held that invasion into privacy by conducting a license and registration check of persons travelling the highway cannot be arbitrary; there must be at least a reasonable suspicion that the law is being violated. Since Appellee was already a passenger on a common carrier, he must have, and he asserts he did have, the same rights as all other travellers.<sup>3</sup>

Of course, under some limited circumstances police may invade the privacy of travellers. However, the intrusion cannot be random or arbitrary. For example, in Jones v. State, 483 So.2d 433 (Fla. 1986) this Court recognized that there must be written guidelines and specific procedures created to ensure that arbitrary intrusions into the liberties of citizens do not occur:

Paramount among all other considerations, the fourth amendment requires that all seizures be based on either: (1) specific evidence of an existing violation; (2) a showing that reason-

---

<sup>2</sup> This may explain why no one had ever refused Officer Turner's request to search their luggage (R6).

<sup>3</sup> There should be no less protection afforded those who, because of financial considerations, must travel by bus or train, than to those who own cars.

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