IN THE SUPREME COURT FLORIDA

)

))

))

))

)

ADRIAN AVEKY,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

	F	18	2	10	89	C	
	CLEF.C.	di Alit Mariana	 بىرى	VE.	cou	RI	1
	Бусатьт	in an	ur oso Usy S	a Aork		fr	~
CASE	NO.	73	3,23	89			

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050

RICHARD G. BARTMON Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue - 204 West Palm Beach, FE 33401 Telephone (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court's granting of the suppression motion, was clearly based on the conclusion that the fact of police officers, approaching ticketed passengers, was coercive, in and of itself. The Fourth District correctly reversed this ruling, as an improper attempt to define a per se rule, to operate in all situations where police officers approach passengers on public transit, to conduct questioning. The Fourth District correctly ruled, that the trial court's order did not address or consider whether there was an encounter or seizure between police and Petitioner, and the question of valid consent, under the "totality of circumstances" approach, required by the United States Supreme Court. This Federal precedent, mandating that the resolution of such Fourth Amendment issues and concerns, depends on the facts and circumstances of each case, applying objective criteria, makes the trial court's "per se" approach and ruling improper.

An encounter between police and citizens is not rendered per se seizure, and does not <u>per</u> se a consent search, merely because the police are conducting questioning, and the questioning occurs on a public bus, parked at a public bus terminal. Such factors may be considered, under the totality of circumstances, in determining the nature of the encounter, and

-5 -

validity of consent, but are not themselves dispositive. Α ticketed passenger, on public transportation, enjoys no greater right, to be free from minimal investigative encounters, than he would in a public concourse or terminal, as a matter of law. While stopped at a bus station, there is unrestricted access to a by all citizens, and a passenger's movement bus, is not inherently or necessarily restricted, on or off, or within the The bus was not stopped or detained by police actions or bus. conduct, and no passenger is singled out, as a matter of law. Inherent factors, such as the future departure of the bus, or the physical confines or environment on board public transit, are not the result of police conduct, and are known beforehand by all There is no Constitutional difference, in the "public citizens. place" nature of a bus, as a matter of law, from that of a public concourse, terminal or station. Any factually distinguishing circumstances are adequately addressed by governing U.S. Supreme Court standards and criterion, which allow for adequate balancing of the compelling state interest in enforcement of drug laws, and a citizen's privacy interests, on a case-by-case basis.

The encounter between Petitioner and police, was clearly not a seizure, and thus did not invoke Fourth Amendment protections. There was no evidence of any indicia of control, or of circumstances so intimidating, such that a reasonable person,

-6 -

innocent of any crime, would have felt not free to leave, or decline to respond to the police. The police questioned Petitioner, without forceful or threatening tone or matter; did not retain Petitioner's ticket; did not physically block or touch Petitioner; and were in plainclothes, without displaying weapons. Thus, the consent search was conducted, subsequent to a valid "encounter," and was not tainted by any police misconduct. Assuming <u>arquendo</u> there was misconduct, the advisement to Petitioner, of his right to refuse consent, attenuated any taint from the misconduct.

Under the totality of circumstances, Petitioner gave free and voluntary consent to the search of his luggage. After being advised of his right to refuse, Petitioner retrieved the bag, placed it on his lap, and opened the bag for police. Furthermore, Petitioner said and did nothing, to limit the scope of the officers' search, and the totality of circumstances, demonstrated that his consent was unequivocal, and not limited to the outer bag.

The encounter herein, as a permissible method of the exercise law enforcement investigative techniques and tools, did not violate Petitioner's state Constitutional rights to privacy. Such a right does not include the right to smuggle or transport drugs, immune from police investigations designed to limit and/or punish such activity.

-7 -

ARGUMENT

FOURTH DISTRICT APPROPRIATELY CONCLUDED THAT TRIAL COURT ERRED, IN GRANTING MOTION TO SUPPRESS, BASED ON TRIAL COURT'S UNLAWFUL RULING THAT PETITIONER'S CONSENT WAS PER <u>SE</u> INVALID, BECAUSE OF LOCATION OF SEARCH.

granting Petitioner's motion to suppress the In cocaine, taken from his luggage pursuant to a valid "encounter" and consent search, the trial judge clearly relied upon his subjective view, that an encounter between police and seated passengers, on a public bus, was per se coercive. (R, 41-42). In his brief, Petitioner has essentially maintained that any bus passenger, who is approached by police, while on board public transit, will always be coerced, by the inherent and attendant circumstances, and that every such "encounter" must be classified as per se "seizure," invoking Fourth Amendment protections. It is clear that the Fourth District, in its en banc majority opinion, correctly applied controlling United States Supreme Court precedent, in reversing the trial court's per se coercive approach to the evaluation and determination of the Fourth Amendment implications involved, in this case.

In its majority opinion, evaluating the circumstances, the Fourth District cited and relied on compelling U.S. Supreme Court case law, instructing that a determination of whether a

-8 -

valid encounter and subsequent consent search is involved, depends on analyzing the totality of circumstances. State v. Avery, 531 So.2d 182, 183-185 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988)(en banc). Writing for a 6-2 majority, Judge Stone rejected the formulation by the Circuit Court, of a "litmus test" to cover every police/citizen encounter on public bus transit, and analyzed the factors and circumstances involved, to conclude that there was an "encounter" between the police and Petitioner. Avery, 531 So.2d, supra, at 185-188. In focusing upon the specific circumstances, the six-member majority concluded that the police officers did not engage in any police misconduct, or any inappropriate detention of Petitioner, that transformed the encounter, to a "seizure" that would invoke Fourth Amendment protections. Avery, 531 So.2d, at 187, 188. The majority left no doubt, that it would answer the certified question -- whether a consent search is rendered necessarily coercive, by the fact that police board public transportation, and randomly seek consent from passengers -- in the negative. Avery, 531 So.2d, at 185-188.

It is apparent, that the Fourth District's majority opinion remains the valid approach, under governing Federal and State case law. The approach by the trial court, and Petitioner, establishes a litmus test for encounters aboard

-9 **-**

public transit, by police, by virtue of such facts, alone. Petitioner essentially suggests that citizens engaged in drug smuggling can never validly consent to speak with or permit searches by police, <u>as a matter of law</u>, and are immune from legitimate police investigatory techniques, in all situations where a citizen is a ticketed passenger, on board public transit. This viewpoint has been consistently rejected, by the court's adoption and reaffirmation, in case after case, of a "totality of circumstances," rather than "per se" evaluation of any particular set of facts.

In United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544 (1980), Justice Stewart initially observed that, since the issuance of Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968), the Supreme Court had recognized the legitimate nature of police-citizen encounters, Mendenhall, 446 U.S., supra, at 553, quoting in public areas. Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 31-34 (Harlan, J, concurring opinion). Justice Stewart observed that the purpose of the Fourth Amendment was not to eliminate or restrict all policecitizen contact, but to provide for the formulation of standards that would prevent arbitrary interference, with a citizen's privacy interests. Mendenhall, 446 U.S., at 553, 554. Stewart concluded that all street encounters between police and citizens could not be characterized as "seizures," because such an

-10 -

approach would be antagonistic to the purpose of the Fourth Amendment, and place unrealistic restrictions on law enforcement and police questioning of citizens, as a method to properly enforce criminal laws. Mendenhall, at 554. Thus, Justice Stewart formulated and reiterated the criteria for evaluating and distinguishing between encounters and seizures, and in the voluntariness of a subsequent consent search, respectively, to be applied to the facts of each particular case, based on review of all circumstances. Mendenhall, at 554-555; Mendenhall, at 557, 560 (Powell, J; Burger, C.J; and Blackman, J, concurring in part and concurring in the judgment);¹ Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218 (1973). Concurring in the judgment, Justice Powell (writing for himself, Chief Justice Burger, and

¹ While Justices Powell, Burger and Blackmun, did not specifically join the formulation of the standard ("whether a reasonable person, under all circumstances would believe he was not free to leave, " Mendenhall, at 554), by Justices Stewart and Rehnquist in this case, all five justices agreed that a determination of voluntariness of consent, was based on a "totality of circumstances" approach in each case. Mendenhall, at 546, 557, 560. While the three concurring justices decided the case by assuming a "seizure" had occurred, and finding the seizure valid, Mendenhall, at 560-563, the concurring justices observed that they did not "necessarily disagree" with Justice Mendenhall, at 560, 1 (Powell, J; Stewart's approach. n. Burger, C J; Blackmun, J, concurring in part and concurring in the judgment). As will be discussed, in subsequent cases, Justice Stewart's approach, and application of standards and criteria for finding a "valid" encounter, has been accepted and applied by a majority of the Court, infra.

Justice Blackmun, and joining, to form a five-member plurality opinion, with Stewart and Rehnquist), specifically emphasized the "compelling" public interest, in detecting and policing drug smuggling and trafficking, noting that the ability to easily conceal drugs, in public transit, created law enforcement obstacles perhaps "unmatched in any other areas of law enforcement." Mendenhall, at 562 (Powell, J; concurring in part, concurring in judgment). The inception of "encounter versus seizure" analysis, in Mendenhall, unequivocally adopted a case-by-case approach, based on objective factors and criteria, to be examined and applied to each set of facts. The Court recognized legitimate further the nature of police investigations and legitimate tools of such investigations, to further a very highly regarded public interest, in enforcement of drug laws.

In <u>Florida v. Royer</u>, 460 U.S. 491 (1983), the Supreme Court continued to apply these objective criteria, to the facts of the particular case, to delineate an encounter from a seizure. <u>Royer</u>, 460 U.S.. <u>supra</u>, at 501. In continuing to apply the <u>Mendenhall</u> approach and standards, the four member plurality in <u>Royer</u>, expressly rejected the contention, that Fourth Amendment concerns were initiated or violated, merely because police officers approached a citizen, in a public place,

-12 -

for questioning purposes. <u>Royer</u>, 460 U.S., at 497. The Court's plurality concluded that, without more, self-identification by police, a questioning of citizens in a public place, was not a per <u>se</u> seizure, and that detentions, short of full-scale "stops", were permissible exercises of police investigations, directed to furthering the strong public interest in drug enforcement, as well as enforcement against other serious crime. <u>Royer</u>, at 497-499; <u>Royer</u>, at 508 (Powell, J, concurring opinion). Thus, the conclusions in <u>Royer</u>, continued to <u>reject</u> the application of a litmus test, to cover all categories of police-citizen contact:

We do not suggest that there is a paper litmus test for distinguishing consensual а encounter from a seizure or for determining when a seizure exceeds the bounds of investigatory an in stop. Even the discrete category of airport encounters, there will be endless variations in facts and circumstances, so much variation that it is unlikely the courts can reduce to a sentence or paragraph a rule that will provide unarguable answers".

<u>Royer</u>, at 506-507; <u>Royer</u>, at 508 (Powell, J. concurring opinion).

In <u>INS v. Delqado</u>, 466 U.S. 210 (1984), a six-member majority continued to apply a case-by-case, fact-oriented

approach in distinguishing between encounters and seizures. Delgado, 466 U.S., supra, at 215. The Court again noted the "diversity" of police-citizen contact, and refused to categorize or define limits, to be applied in every single set of facts. Id. In analyzing factual circumstances involving a full-scale immigration survey, by armed Federal agents with walkie-talkies, factory environment, the Court's majority expressly in a concluded that the fact of police questioning of a citizen, in a public area, (even one with limited access to the public), did not in and of itself translate automatically to a "seizure." Delgado, at 216; 217, n. 5. Delgado made it further clear that the fact of such questioning, in such a setting, does not per se impact or invalidate the consensual or voluntary nature of a citizen's response. Delgado, at 216. The Delgado court, in defining the general limits of an encounter, distinguished factual circumstances, interpreted encounters as versus seizures, by particular intimidation factors, present in a given case, used as part of additional steps by police, to get responses from citizens who refused to answer or cooperate. Delgado, at 216-217. Thus, as the Fourth District correctly noted, in its reliance on the Mendenhall/Royer/Delgado line of cases, courts can only classify an encounter as a "seizure," when there are objective factors of intimidation present in a

-14 -

particular case, beyond the fact of police questioning, in a public place. <u>Royer; Mendenhall; Delqado; Avery</u>, 531 So.2d, at 184-187.

Petitioner's position was most recently, and squarely rejected in Michigan v. Chesternut, 486 U.S. , 108 S.Ct 1975, 100 L.Ed.2d 565 (1988). In this decision, the Court unanimously reversed the Federal appeals court's conclusion, that a police car driving beside a citizen, running along a public street, always presents a per se "seizure" classification. Chesternut, 100 L.Ed.2d, supra, at 569, 570. The Court rejected defense and State arguments, that such circumstances were a per se seizure or encounter. <u>Chesternut</u>, at **571**. In so doing, the Court concluded that either approach, "fails to heed this Court's clear direction," that an assessment of whether an encounter or seizure is involved, depends on a case-by-case analysis, of the totality of circumstances present. <u>Id</u>. This direct rejection of the same approach urged by Petitioner, confirms the validity of the Avery majority's conclusions.

Acceptance of Petitioner's argument would require this Court to expressly contradict the clear and consistent adherence, by the U.S. Supreme Court, to a case-by-case ''totality'approach, and rejection of the development of per se rules. The standards developed, from <u>Terry</u> to <u>Chesternut</u>,

-15 -

supra, provide for a balancing of the significant public interest in drug and law enforcement, with the citenzenry's interests, in each case. Chesternut; Delgado; Mendenhall; Royer; <u>Schneckloth</u>, 412 U.S., <u>supra</u>, at 218, 225-227, 233. Respondent does not suggest that every bus search, conducted by police, will qualify under the facts, as a legitimate "encounter." By the same token, not every bus search is a "seizure," or produces an invalid consent, absent some form of actual factors of intimidation or coercion, beyond the mere fact of police interrogation in public places. Id.; Nazario v. State, 13 F.L.W. 2388, 2386 (Fla. 4th DCA, October 26, 1988); Avery, 531 So.2d, at 184; Alvarez v. State, 515 So.2d 286, 288 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987); Jacobsen v. State, 476 So.2d 1282, 1285 (Fla. 1985); <u>Denehy v. State</u>, 400 So.2d 1216 (Fla. 1980). The "filters out" Mendenhall and Schneckloth standards those detentions that go beyond the permissible scope of an encounter or consent search, without undermining the underlying validity and rationale of such investigative techniques, during policecitizen contacts. Mendenhall, at 553-554; Schneckloth, at 225, 229, 232.

The judicial imprimatur, on this case-by-case approach, instead of inflexible per <u>se</u> rules that cannot practically accommodate all situations of public detentions,

-16 -

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